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Strategic Report

Principal activity and review of the business

Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (LMIE also referred to as the Company) underwrites insurance
and reinsurance business from its head office in London and its branches across Europe.

Itis wholly owned by Liberty Mutual Group Incorporated, a diversified global insurer. The group offers
a wide range of insurance products and services to meet the needs of individuals, families and
businesses through strategic business units and operating units. The Company is part of the Liberty
Specialty Markets (LSM) operating unit, which is part of the Global Risk Solutions business unit.

During 2018 it is intended that LMIE will convert to a UK public company and subsequently to a UK
societas europaea. Thereafter LMIE may transfer its corporate seat from the UK to Luxem bourg, while
maintaining its UK presence as a branch. The timing of this latter step is at present uncertain.

As part of the Brexit strategy, LMIE has established and licensed an in-house coverholder in
Luxembourg, Liberty Specialty Markets Europe Sarl (LSME). LSME acts as an intermediary company,
acting on behalf of LMIE and Liberty Syndicate 4472, and it began underwriting on behalf of LMIE from
its branches throughout Europe on 1 November 2017.

The Company took the decision to cease its branch activities in Asia, resulting in the exit from the Hong
Kong branch during the year. The Company disposed of its Malaysia branch and Singapore branch in
2016 and 2015 respectively.

The Company's key financial performance indicators during the year were as follows:

Key Performance Indicators 2017 2016
$000 $000
Gross Premiums Written 1,250,662 1,201,612
Net Earned Premium 642,502 655,278
(Loss)/profit before taxation (125,572) 44,331
Claims Ratio % 83.1% 66.6%
Expense Ratio % 38.4% 39.5%
Combined ratio % ¢ 121.5% 106.0%

() The combined ratio is the sum of the ratios of net operating expenses and net incurred claims to net
earned premiums. A combined ratio of less than 100% represents an underwriting profit.

The Company's strategy of identifying and investing in growth areas meant that, despite highly
competitive market conditions, the Company’s business expanded in its core areas in 2017.

Gross written premiums increased by $49m in 2017, up 4% when compared to 2016.

The claims ratio increased to 83.1% in 2017 from 66.6% in 2016. This is due to the abnormally high
catastrophe losses in the U.S. in the third quarter and adverse developments in our Commercial
Property and Casualty book. This is after taking into account favourable reserve development from prior
years.

The net assets decreased by $90.6m in the year, mainly due to the loss for the year.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Solvency position

We maintain regulatory capital coverage in line with our capital management objective as set out in
Note 22. The Solvency Il position of the Company is summarised as follows:

2017 2016
$000 $000
Excess of assets over liabilities 970,103 1,007,245
Solvency Capital Requirement 728,000 710,634
Excess own funds 242,103 296,611

The Solvency Capital Position and related disclosures are estimated and unaudited values.

At 31 December 2017, our eligible Own Funds, determined in accordance with the Solvency |l valuation
rules, were $970m (2016: $1,007m), which was in excess of our estimated SCR of $728m (2016:
$710m). This represented a solvency coverage ratio of 133% (2016: 142%), which is within our capital
risk appetite. The reduction in the solvency coverage ratio is due to losses in the year.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Company are grouped as intrinsic, operational or other
risks. Intrinsic risk incorporates the principal risks faced by the Company and includes insurance risk,
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Other risk includes group risk and strategic risk.

The objective of the Company’s risk management activities is to enable it to engage with risks in a
controlled fashion that is consistent with the Board’s appetite and its available capital capacity, while
retaining the ability to implement its long term business plans and meet its obligations to policyholders.

Intrinsic Risk
Insurance Risk

Insurance risk incorporates premium risk and reserve risk. Premium risk is the variation of underwriting
results from plan for reasons other than operational or insurance counterparty risk. This is influenced
by the frequency and severity of claims events.

Premium risk is mitigated through the use of a diversified business plan operating within Board risk
appetites and supported through the Company’s control environment, including underwriting controls.
Reinsurance is utilised to mitigate against exposure to individual events.

Reserve risk is the variation in policyholder reserves for prior accident years required for reasons other
than operational or insurance counterparty risk. This is influenced by uncertainty in the notification of
claims and value of claims paid.

Reserve risk is mitigated through the use of detailed analysis performed by the Actuarial team and
overseen by the Reserving Committee, including regular assessment of the results of actuarial studies,
claims analysis, underwriting reviews and benchmarking exercises. In addition, business plans are
developed to ensure that the long term reserve profile of the Company remains stable.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Intrinsic Risk (continued)

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk of fluctuations in net asset value due to the volatility or level of financial variables
impacting primarily the value of fixed income securities and private equity funds and other assets and
liabilities.

The principal causes of market risk are:

e Interest rate risk: The risk of fluctuations in net asset value due to movements in the term
structure of the risk free rate.
o Spread risk: The risk from the widening of the spread over the “risk free” yield curve.

e Credit risk: comprises

o Default risk: The risk that a bond defaults and we recover less that the full valuation of
the bond.

o Migration risk: The risk that the credit rating of a bond moves to a lower rating before
maturity. Bonds that migrate will experience changes in valuations due to the use of
yield curves based on different ratings.

e Private equity risk: The risk of fluctuations in net asset value due to the volatility in the valuation
of the private equity funds.

e Currency risk: The risk of fluctuations in net asset value due to changes in the level and volatility
of currency exchange rates and mismatches between the assets and liabilities.

e Asset concentration risk: The risk of an exposure having the potential to result in significant
large losses.

The following policies and procedures are in place to govern the exposure to market risk

e A Market and Liquidity Risk Policy exists that sets out the assessment and determination of
what constitutes market risk for the Company.

e The Market and Liquidity Risk Policy details how the Company measures, monitors and
mitigates the potential market risks posed by the investment portfolio. Compliance with the
policy is monitored with exposures and any breaches reported to the Investment Committee
and the Risk Committee. The policy is reviewed regularly for pertinence and for changes in the
risk environment.

e The measurement, monitoring and reporting of market risk takes into account the profile of the
net technical provisions and is reflective of the financial risk caused by the interaction of the
assets and liabilities.

Market risk is mitigated through the use of a diversified investment strategy operating within Board risk
appetites and operationalised through the investment guidelines.
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Strategic Report (continued)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)

Intrinsic Risk (continued)

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial change in value due to actual credit losses deviating from expected
credit losses due to the failure of another party to meet its contractual debt obligations. The principal
source of credit risk arises from the inability of reinsurers to meet their contractual obligations if they
become due.

Credit risk is mitigated through controls encompassing due diligence and continued monitoring to
ensure the appropriate selection of counterparties and Board risk appetites to prevent inappropriate
credit risk concentrations.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the probability of loss arising from situations where the Company either has insufficient
cash to meet its financial obligations or is required to sell assets below their fair value to meet cash
demands.

Liquidity risk is mitigated through the use of asset-liability modelling and through the maintenance of a
diversified and appropriately liquid portfolio of assets.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss to the Company resulting from the inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems, or from external events. Operational risk also includes reputational risk
and conduct risk.

Operational risk is mitigated through the use of the three lines of defence model in conjunction with a
system of documented, monitored and tested internal controls.

Other Risks
Group risk

Group risk is the risk of loss to the Company arising from its membership of both Liberty Mutual Group
and Liberty Specialty Markets.

Group risk is mitigated through the monitoring of Liberty Mutual Group’s financial strength and business
strategy developments. In addition, the chairman of any committee reviewing risk information ensures
that due attention is given to each legal entity within Liberty Specialty Markets, even in times of stress
to one entity.

Strategic risk

Strategic risk is the risk of loss to the Company arising from key business decisions, improper
implementation of decisions or lack of responsiveness to industry changes.

Strategic risk is mitigated through the development and implementation of the Company’s strategy and
through controls relating to the development of new business opportunities.

Brexit is a source of potential risk for LMIE given the uncertainty over the UK’s future trading relationship
with the EU. However, LMIE has taken steps to ensure that it can continue to write European business
with minimal disruption to policyholders, brokers and staff.

These risks are covered in more detail in note 22 to the financial statements.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Significant events during the reporting period and up to the date of the report

Through its European branch structure, the Company has significant operations and employees in the
EU and enjoys a number of benefits from the UK being a member of the EU.

On 23 June 2016, through a referendum, the UK voted to leave the EU and on 29 March 2017, Article
50 of the Lisbon Treaty was triggered by the UK Government commencing the process of formal
negotiation between the UK and the EU on the UK's exit which is expected to occur during a two year
period. A high degree of uncertainty exists around what the terms of the UK’s relationship with the EU
will be and whether any benefits of the current four freedoms of the EU will remain.

During 2018 it is intended that LMIE will convert to a UK public company and subsequently to a UK
societas europaea. Thereafter LMIE may transfer its corporate seat from the UK to Luxembourg, while
maintaining its UK presence as a branch. The timing of this latter step is at present uncertain.

The Brexit strategy has been designed to accommodate whichever circumstances pertain after March
2019, whether this is a full UK exit or interim transitional arrangements.

With effect from 20 December the immediate parent undertaking of the Company, Liberty UK and
Europe Holdings Limited (LUEH), an English company (company number 7062171), whose registered
office is at 20 Fenchurch Street, London EC3M 3AW, transferred its entire interest in the Company to
Liberty Specialty Markets Holdco S.L., a Spanish sociedad limitada, whose registered office is at Paseo
de las Doce Estrellas n. 4, 28042 Madrid (the “Transferee”).
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Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report, together with the audited financial statements of
the Company, for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Directors

The current Directors are listed on page 3, Directors who held office between 1 January 2017 and the
date of signing the financial statements were:

K Nicholson Chairman

N J Metcalf President & Managing Director Resigned 21 September 2017
M Moore President & Managing Director

P Hobbs Deputy Managing Director Appointed 11 December 2017
J A R Dunn Group Finance Director

C D Hanks Non-Executive Director

G J McBurmey (USA) Non-Executive Director

C L Peirce (USA) Non-Executive Director Resigned 24 January 2018

R D G Reid Non-Executive Director

F W Robinson (USA) Non-Executive Director

According to the Register of Directors' Interests, no Director has any beneficial interest in the issued
share capital of the Company.

Joseph Cassidy acted as Company Secretary throughout the period under review.

Results and dividends
The loss for the year after taxation is $113.7m (2016: profit $36.6m). An interim dividend of $108,671
was paid during the year (2016: Nil).

Financial instruments
Details of financial instruments are provided in the Market risk section of the Strategic Report.

Tangible assets
The changes in the Company's tangible assets for the year are set out in Note 12.

Donations
During the year the Company made charitable donations of $6,154 (2016: $17,213) and made no
political donations (2016: Nil).

Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. In assessing whether the going

concern basis is appropriate, the Directors have considered the information contained in the financial
statements, the Company’s latest business plan, and the Company’s current solvency calculations. The
Directors are satisfied that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
annual report and financial statements.

Disclosure of information to the Auditors

So far as each person who was a Director of the Company at the date of approving this report is aware,
there is no relevant audit information, being information needed by the Company’s auditor in connection
with its report, of which the auditor is unaware. Having made enquiries of fellow Directors of the
Company and the Company's Auditor, each Director has taken all the steps that he/she is obliged to
take as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to
establish that the auditor is aware of that information.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Subsequent events
The Company has taken a number of actions in line with LSM’s Brexit strategy as detailed in the
Significant events during the reporting period and up to the date of the report section of the Strategic

report.

Future developments

As part of the Brexit strategy, further steps will be taken by the Company to support development plans
as detailed in the Significant events during the reporting period and up to the date of the report section
of the Strategic report.

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP are deemed to be reappointed in accordance with an elective resolution made under
Section 485 of the Companies Act 2006. Consequently, the Company has dispensed with the
requirement to hold an Annual General Meeting and re-appoint the auditors. Ernst & Young LLP have
expressed their willingness to continue in office and so have been invited to do so.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board by:

J AR Dunn
Group Finance Director
20 February 2018 Company Number: 1088268
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the Financial
Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).
The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are required to:

e Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently:
e Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

o State whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements: and

e Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial

information included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited for the year ended
31 December 2017 which comprise the Income Statement, Statement of Other Comprehensive Income,
Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Financial Position and the related notes 1 to 29 including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) including FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ and Financial Reporting Standard 103 ‘Insurance
Contracts’.

e In our opinion, the financial statements:

e  give a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2017 and of its profit for the
year then ended;

e have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial reporting Standard applicable
in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ and Financial Reporting Standard 103 ‘Insurance contracts’: and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report below. We are independent
of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC'’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part
16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require
us to report to you where:

e the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

e the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (continued)

Overview of our audit approach

Key audit e Valuation of the gross and net provisions for insurance liabilities

matters

Materiality e Overall materiality of $10m which represents 0.8% of Gross Written
Premium.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and in our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Risk

Our response to the risk

Key observations
communicated to
the Audit Committee

Valuation of the provisions >
for insurance liabilities

(IBNR, included within

Claims Outstanding, Note

17)

(£1,182m; 2016: £1,084m)

The valuation of provisions
for insurance liabilities
incorporates a significant
amount of judgement for the
expected ultimate cost of
claims incurred, but not yet
reported, at the reporting
date. It is reasonably
possible that uncertainties
inherent in the reserving
process, delays in insurers
reporting losses to the
Company, together with the >
potential for adverse
development, could lead to

the ultimate amount paid
varying materially from the
amount estimated at this
reporting date.

Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited

We understood, assessed and tested
the design and operational
effectiveness of the key controls in
the reserving process including the
review and approval of the reserves,
and controls over the extraction of
data from the appropriate sources.

Supported by our actuarial specialists
we evaluated management's
methodology against market practice
and challenged management's
assumptions and their assessment of
major sensitivities, based on our
market knowledge and industry data
where available. The main areas of
judgement include the level of
reserves held for specific losses, the
loss development patterns selected
and the initial expected loss ratios.

Using management’s data we
independently re-projected a
proportion of the claims provisions
investigating significant differences
between our projections and
management’s booked reserves.
Using our own re-projections we then
considered whether the provisions for
insurance liabilities held at the year-
end fall within a reasonable range of
estimates.

Taken as a whole, we
consider that
management’s
judgements in the
areas highlighted are
reasonable based on
the information
available at the date
of the report. The
Company'’s provisions
lie within what we
consider to be a
reasonable range of
estimates.

In addition we
consider that the
disclosures made are
satisfactory, and they
provide information
that assists in
understanding the
uncertainty inherent in
the valuation of
provisions for
insurance liabilities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (continued)

An overview of the scope of our audit
Tailoring the scope

Our assessment of audit risk, our evaluation of materiality and our allocation of performance materiality
determine our audit scope for the Company. This enables us to form an opinion on the financial
statements. We take into account size, risk profile, the organisation of the Company and effectiveness
of controls, including controls and changes in the business environment when assessing the level of
work to be performed.

The Company is a subsidiary of Liberty Mutual Company Inc. which is based in the United States of
America. Subsidiaries of Liberty Mutual Group operate centralised Investments, Reinsurance and IT
functions benefiting the subsidiaries.

In establishing the overall approach to the Company audit, we determined the type of work that needed
to be performed by us, as the Company engagement team, or other EY network firms, operating under
our instructions. Where the work was performed by an EY network firm, we determined the level of
involvement we needed to have in the audit work to be able to conclude whether sufficient appropriate
audit evidence had been obtained.

The Audit Engagement Partner and senior members of the Company engagement team reviewed the
work performed by the EY network firms. This, together with audit procedures performed by us, gave
us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the Company'’s financial statements.

In assessing the risk of material misstatement to the financial statements, and to ensure we had
adequate quantitative coverage of significant accounts in the financial statements, we performed audit
procedures related to Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited branches as noted below. In doing so,
we also considered qualitative factors and checked we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial
statements line items in the financial statements. This scope provided us with coverage of more than
90% of gross written premium.

Details of the branches audited by us are:

Branch Scope Auditor
LMIE European branches Full EY London
Hong Kong Specific EY Hong Kong

Changes from the prior year

We have removed the Dubai branch from scope as a result of its closure in 2016.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (continued)

Our application of materiality

We apply the concept of materiality in planning and performing the audit, in evaluating the effect of
identified misstatements on the audit and in forming our audit opinion.

Materiality

The magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of the users of the financial statements. Materiality
provides a basis for determining the nature and extent of our audit procedures.

We determined materiality for the Company to be $10 million (2016: $9.3 million), which is
approximately 0.8% (2016: 0.8%) of Gross Written Premium (2016: Gross Written Premium). We
believe that Gross Written Premium provides us with a measurement of materiality which is most closely
aligned to the key focus of the entity and its users of the financial statements.

Performance materiality

The application of materiality at the individual account or balance level. It is set at an amount to reduce
to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected
misstatements exceeds materiality.

On the basis of our risk assessments, together with our assessment of the Company’s overall control
environment, our judgement was that performance materiality was 75% (2016: 75%) of our planning
materiality, namely $7.5m (2016: $7.0m).

Reporting threshold
An amount below which identified misstatements are considered as being clearly trivial.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them all uncorrected audit differences in
excess of $0.5m (2016: $0.5m), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds.

We evaluate any uncorrected misstatements against both the quantitative measures of materiality
discussed above and in light of other relevant qualitative considerations in forming our opinion.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report set out on pages 4 to 11,
other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for
the other information.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If
we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (continued)

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements: and

e the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the
course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or directors’
report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act
2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

- thefinancial statements to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns;
or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit
Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 11, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

The objectives of our audit, in respect to fraud, are: to identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud; to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud, through designing and
implementing appropriate responses; and to respond appropriately to fraud or suspected fraud
identified during the audit. However, the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud
rests with both those charged with governance of the entity and management.

Our approach was as follows:

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
Company and determined that the most significant frameworks which are directly relevant to
specific assertions in the financial statements are those that relate to the reporting framework (FRS
102, FRS 103 and Companies Act 2006) and the relevant tax compliance regulations in the UK and
overseas jurisdictions in which the Company operates. In addition, we concluded that there are
certain significant laws and regulations which may have an effect on the determination of the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements being the Bribery Act 2010, Data Protection
Act 1998 and Money Laundering regulations.

We understood how the Company complies with these legal and regulatory frameworks by making
enquiries of management, internal audit and those responsible for legal and compliance procedures
and the company secretary. We assessed the Company’s approach to governance, demonstrated
by the Board’s approval of the Company’s governance framework and the Board's review of the
Company's risk management and internal control processes. We corroborated our enquiries
through our review of board minutes, papers provided to the Audit Committee and correspondence
received from regulatory bodies.

We assessed the susceptibility of the Company’s financial statements to material misstatement,
including how fraud might occur by meeting with management within various parts of the business
to understand where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud. Where the risk was
considered to be higher, we performed audit procedures to address each identified fraud risk. These
procedures included testing manual journals and were designed to provide reasonable assurance
that the financial statements were free from fraud or error.

Based on this understanding we designed our audit procedures to identify non-compliance with
such laws and regulations. Our procedures included review of board minutes, a review of the
reporting to the Audit Committee on compliance with regulations and enquiries of management and
legal counsel.

The Company operates in the insurance industry which is a highly regulated environment. As such
the Senior Statutory Auditor considered the experience and expertise of the engagement team to
ensure that the team had the appropriate competence and capabilities, which included the use of
specialists where appropriate.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council's website at https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description
forms part of our auditor's report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Liberty
Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (continued)

Other matters we are required to address

e We were appointed as auditor by the Company to audit the financial statements for the year ending
31 December 1996 and for all subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted
engagement, including previous renewals and reappointments is 21 years, covering the years
ending 31 December 1996 to 31 December 2017. Our most recent engagement letter was signed
on 17 January 2018.

e The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Company
and we remain independent of the Company in conducting the audit.

e The audit opinion is consistent with the Audit Committee report to the Audit Committee.

Angus Millar (Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP, Statutory Auditor
London

20 February 2018

Notes:

1. The maintenance and integrity of the Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited web site is the
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve
consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented
on the web site.

2. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Income Statement: Technical Account - General Business
for the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016

Notes $000 $000
Gross premiums written 2 1,250,662 1,201,612
Outward reinsurance premiums (490,942) (460,149)
Net premiums written 759,720 741,463
Change in the provision for unearned premiums:
Gross amount (154 ,464) (76,986)
Reinsurers' share 37,246 (9,199)
Change in net provision for unearned premiums (117,218) (86,185)
Earned premiums, net of reinsurance 642,502 655,278
Allocated investment return transferred from the non-
technical account 3 27,810 56,752
Claims incurred, net of reinsurance:
Claims paid
Gross amount 17 (509,236) (581,470)
Reinsurers'share 17 166,575 224,021
Net claims paid (342,661) (357,449)
Change in provision for claims:
Gross amount (385,987) (64,525)
Reinsurers'share 194,744 (14,335)
Change to the net provision for claims (191,243) (78,860)
Claims incurred net of reinsurance (533,904) (436,309)
Net operating expenses 4 (246,726) (258,594)
Balance on the Technical account for General Business (110,318) 17,127
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Income Statement: Non-Technical Account - General

Business
for the year ended 31 December 2017
2017 2016

Notes $000 $000
Balance on the Technical account for General
Business (110,318) 17,127
Investment income and gains on realisation of
investments 3 32,703 73,357
Unrealised gains on investments 3 955 43
Investment expenses and charges 3 (3,236) (2,968)
Allocated investment return transferred to
the general business technical account 3 (27,810) (56,752)
Exchange (losses) and gains (17,866) 13,524
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (125,572) 44,331
Taxon (loss)/profit on ordinary activities 7 11,890 (7,700)
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities after tax (113,682) 36,631

Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited
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Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes $000 $000
(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities after tax (113,682) 36,631
Fair value (losses)/gains recognised during the year on
available for sale investments net of tax 22,444 1,928
Re-measurement of the net defined benefit surplus 21 1,673 471
Deferred tax relating to re-measurement of the
net defined benefit asset 7 (938) (419)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (90,503) 38,611
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Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2017

Called up Share  Available Profit and
share premium for sale loss
capital account reserve account Total
2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January2017 290,225 100,000 (1,318) 633430 1,022,337
Shares issued for cash 14 - - 14
Dividends paid - (109) (109)
Total comprehensive loss for the year - 22444 (112,947) (90,503)
At 31 December 290,239 100,000 21,126 520,374 931,739
Called up Share  Available Profit and
share premium for sale loss
capital account reserve account Total
2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January 2016 290,225 (3,245) 561,780 848,760
Capital Injection - 100,000 - - 100,000
Reversal of the equalisation reserve - - - 34,966 34,966
Transfer of the AFS reserve to RE
Total comprehensive income for the year - 1,927 36,684 38,611
At 31 December 290,225 100,000 (1,318) 633,430 1,022,337
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Statement of Financial Position - Assets

at 31 December 2017

Restated
2017 2016
Notes $000 $000
Investments
Investments in subsidiary undertakings 8 5 -
Financial investments 9 2,369,306 2,367,315
Deposits with ceding undertakings 32,497 29,415
2,401,808 2,396,730
Reinsurers’ share of technical provisions
Provision for unearned premiums 16 285,434 252,883
Claims outstanding 17 912,708 716,984
1,198,142 969,867
Debtors
Debtors arising out of directinsurance operations - intermediaries 376,202 299,221
Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 10 260,443 194,232
Other debtors 11 20,003 7,092
656,648 500,545
Other assets

Tangible assets 12 9,825 11,231
Cash atbank and in hand 174,066 89,652
183,891 100,883

Prepayments and accrued income
Accrued interest 18,703 18,630
Gross deferred acquisition costs 13 251,651 182,623
Other prepayments and accrued income 9,274 13,153
279,628 214,406
Total assets excluding pension assets 4,720,117 4,182,431
Pension surplus 21 8,119 4,333
Total assets 4,728,236 4,186,764
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Statement of Financial Position - Liabilities
at 31 December 2017

Restated
2017 2016
Notes $000 $000
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 14 290,239 290,225
Share premium account 15 100,000 100,000
Available for sale reserve 15 21,126 (1,318)
Profit and loss account 520,374 633,430
931,739 1,022,337
Technical provisions
Provision for unearned premiums 16 947 557 774,354
Gross claims outstanding 17 2,469,348 2,008,680
3,416,905 2,783,034
Other provisions 20 946 3,250
Creditors
Creditors arising out of direct
insurance operations 7,250 22,695
Creditors arising out of
reinsurance operations 18 191,085 166,466
Other creditors including taxation
and social security 19 71,479 73,247
269,814 262,408
Accruals and deferred income 108,832 115,735
Total equity and liabilities 4,728,236 4.1 86,764‘

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 February 2018 and were
signed on its behalf by:

A R Dunn
Group Finance Director
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017

1. Accounting Policies
1.1 Statement of compliance

Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited (the Company) is a limited liability company incorporated in
England and Wales, registered office details are on page 3. The financial statements cover those of the
individual entity and are prepared as at, and for the year ended, 31 December 2017.

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with FRS 102 and FRS 103, being the
applicable UK GAAP accounting standards, and in accordance with the provisions of Schedule 3 of the
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (The
Regulations) relating to insurance companies.

The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for financial
investments which are measured at fair value and the defined benefit pension obligation which is
measured under the projected unit credit method.

1.2 Basis of preparation

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 were approved for issue by the Board of
Directors on 15 February 2018.

The financial statements are prepared in United States Dollar which is the presentation and functional
currency of the Company and rounded to the nearest $'000.

The Company has elected to apply paragraph 6.3 of FRS 103 to claims development triangles where the
Company need not disclose information that occurred earlier than five years before the end of the first
financial year in which this FRS applies, building up to 10 years of development with the introduction of
each future period. Claims development triangles are reported on an underwriting year basis.

As permitted by FRS 103 the Company continues to apply the existing accounting policies that were
applied prior to this standard, for its insurance contracts.

The Company’s smallest higher group of companies for which group accounts are drawn up is Liberty
International Holdings Incorporated (DE). Liberty International Holdings Incorporated (DE) includes the
Company in its consolidated financial statements. Therefore the Company is exempt by virtue of section
401 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requirement to prepare consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of Liberty International Holdings Incorporated are prepared in
accordance with US GAAP and are available to the public. In these financial statements.

The Company is considered to be a qualifying entity (for the purposes of this FRS) and has applied the
exemptions available under FRS 102 in respect of the following disclosures:
e FRS 102 Section 3 Financial Statement [4.12 (a)(iv)] and Section 7 Statement of Cash Flows:
Cash Flow Statement and related notes
e FRS 102 Section 4 Statement of Financial Position [3.17(d)]: Reconciliation of the number of
shares outstanding from the beginning to end of the period
e FRS 102 Section 33 Related Party Disclosures [33.7]: Related party transactions with key
management personnel compensation

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under FRS 102 Section 33 Related party
Disclosures [33.1A] to not disclose related party transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries of Liberty
International Holdings Incorporated (DE).

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.3 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and
the amounts reported for revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation
means that actual outcomes could differ from those estimates.

1.3.1 Technical provisions

For insurance contracts, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported
at the reporting date and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred, but not yet reported, at the
reporting date (IBNR). It can take a significant period of time before the ultimate claims cost can be
established with certainty and for some type of policies, IBNR claims form the majority of the liability in
the statement of financial position.

The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims
projection techniques, such as Chain Ladder and Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods. The main assumption
underlying these techniques is that past claims development experience can be used to project future
claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. As such, these methods extrapolate the
development of paid and incurred losses based on the observed development of earlier years and
expected loss ratios. Historical claims development is mainly analysed by underwriting years by
significant lines of business. Large / catastrophe claims are usually separately addressed, either by being
reserved at the face value of loss adjuster estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future
development. In most cases, no explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation
or loss ratios. Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in the historical claims development data
on which the projections are based.

Additional qualitative judgement is used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in future,
(e.g. to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in external or market factors such as public attitudes to
claiming, economic conditions, levels of claims inflation, judicial decisions and legislation, as well as
internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features and claims handling procedures) in order to arrive
at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the likely outcome from the range of possible
outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties involved.

Further details are given in Note 17,
1.3.2 Estimates of future premiums

For certain insurance contracts, premium is initially recognised based on estimates of ultimate premiums.
These estimates are judgemental and could result in misstatements of revenue recorded in the financial
statements. The main assumption underlying these estimates is that past premium development can be
used to project future premium development.

1.3.3 Fair value of financial assets determined using valuation techniques

Where the fair value of financial assets recorded on the statement of financial position cannot be derived
from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of
discounted cash flow models and/or other mathematical models. The inputs from these models are
derived from observable market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available,
judgment is required to establish fair values. For fixed income and asset backed securities the judgments
include considerations for liquidity risk, credit risk, and prepayment rates.

For discounted cash flow analysis, estimated future cash flows and discount rates are based on current

market information and rates applicable to financial instruments with similar yields, credit quality and
maturity characteristics. Estimated future cash flows are influenced by factors such as economic
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.3 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)
1.3.3 Fair value of financial assets determined using valuation techniques (continued)

conditions (including country specific risks), concentrations of specific industries and market liquidity.
Discount rates are influenced by risk free interest rates and credit risk.

Changes in the assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of the financial
instruments. Further details are given in Note 9.

1.3.4 Defined benefit pension scheme

The cost of the defined benefit pension plan is based on assumptions determined with the assistance of
external actuarial advice. The key assumptions impacting the valuations are the discount rate, inflation
and mortality rates. The principal assumptions used by the independent qualified actuaries to calculate
the liabilities under FRS 102 are detailed in Note 19. Refer to Note 19 for further details about the
Company's defined benefit pension plan costs and obligations.

1.3.5 Taxation

The Company establishes provisions based on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of
audits by the tax authorities of the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of such
provisions is based on various factors, such as experience with previous tax audits and differing
interpretations of tax regulations by the tax authority.

Management estimation is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with an assessment of
the effect of future tax planning strategies.

1.4 Significant accounting policies

1.4.1 Financial Investments

As permitted by FRS 102, the Company has elected to apply the recognition and measurement provisions
of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: recognition and measurement (as adopted for use in the EU) to account
for all of its financial instruments.

The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories: Shares and other variable-yield
securities - at fair value through profit or loss; Debt securities and other fixed-income securities, Deposits
with credit institutions — available for sale and other financial investments — Loans and receivables.

The Company determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition.

Available for sale

Non-derivative financial assets that are not classified as designated at fair value through profit or loss or
loans and receivables are classified as available-for-sale.

Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and as a separate component in
equity, except for interest (which is recognised in income on an effective yield basis), impairment losses
and foreign exchange gains or losses, until the investment is derecognised or the investment is
determined to be impaired. On de-recognition or impairment, the cumulative fair value gains and losses
previously reported through other comprehensive income are transferred to the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.1  Financial Investments (continued)

Debt securities and other fixed interest securities are reviewed for any permanent diminution in value
periodically on a holding by holding basis. Where a permanent diminution is identified, an impairment is
recognised as a realised investment loss in the income statement.

Deposits with credit institutions are also classified as available for sale and are held at cost as the best
measure for fair value. These typically consist of callable on-demand deposits with very short maturities,
which are not always held to maturity.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Shares and other variable yield securities consist of collective investment schemes and private equity
investments.

A financial asset is classified into this category at inception if they are acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the short term, if they form part of a portfolio of financial assets in which there is evidence of
short term profit-taking, or if so designated by management to minimise any measurement or recognition
inconsistency with the associated liabilities.

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets are based on quoted bid prices on the
balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm'’s length basis.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market, are established by the
directors using valuation techniques which seek to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction
would take between market participants.

Net gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are presented in the profit and loss account within ‘Unrealised gains on investments’ or ‘Unrealised
losses on investments’ in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market other than those that the Company intends to sell in the short term or that
it has designated as at fair value through profit and loss. When a financial asset is recognised initially it
is measured at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. Receivables arising from insurance contracts are also classified in this category and are
reviewed for impairment as part of the impairment review of loans and receivables.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if, and only if there is a current enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

1.4.2 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and in hand and short term
deposits with an original maturity date of three months or less.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.3 Fair value of financial assets

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technigue:

o Level 1: the unadjusted quoted prices in an active market for identical assets or liabilities. Quoted
in an active market in this context means quoted prices are readily and regularly available and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis. The quoted price is usually the bid price.

e Level 2: when quoted prices are unavailable the instrument is valued using inputs that are
observable either directly or indirectly including quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets.

e Level 3: when observable inputs are not available, unobservable inputs are used to measure fair
value by use of valuation techniques. The objective of using the valuation technique is to estimate
what the fair value would have been on the measurement date.

See note 9 for details of financial instruments classified by fair value hierarchy.
1.4.4 Impairment of financial assets
Available for sale

If an available for sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the profit and loss account, is transferred from other comprehensive income in
equity to the profit and loss account. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments classified as
available for sale are reversed through the profit and loss account, if the increase in the fair value of the
instruments can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment losses were recognised
in the profit and loss account.

Loans and receivables

For assets carried at cost, if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an investment that is
not carried at fair value, because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return of a similar asset.

1.4.5 Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset or, when applicable, a part of a financial asset is derecognised when:
e The rights to the cash flows from the asset have expired; or
e The company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’
arrangement and either (a) the company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset; or (b) the company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the company has transferred its right to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the company’s
continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.5 Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the company could be required to repay. In that case, the company also
recognises an associated liability.

1.4.6 Investment Return

Investment return comprises all investment income, realised investment gains and losses and
movements in unrealised investment gains and losses, net of investment expenses, charges and interest.

Dividends are recognised when the investments to which they relate are declared ‘ex-dividend'. In
accordance with FRS 102 29.19 Income Tax, dividends are recognised at the amount receivable including
withholding tax if applicable, but excluding any attributable tax credit.

Unrealised and realised gains and losses on financial investments are recognised based on the
appropriate classification of financial investments and are covered in detail under the accounting policy
for financial investments. See note 3 for further details on investment return.

An allocation of actual investment return on investments supporting the general insurance technical
provisions and associated equity is made from the non-technical account to the technical account.
Investment return related to non-insurance business and shareholders’ equity is attributed to the non-
technical account.

1.4.7 Financial Liabilities

The Company’s financial liabilities consist of insurance creditors, intercompany balances and trade
payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value. Intercompany balances are repayable on
demand and are typically settled within one year. Intercompany balances are subsequently measured at
amortised cost should they remain unsettled over a year. A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or expires.

Insurance Contracts
1.4.8 Product Classification

Insurance contract are those contracts when the Company (the insurer) has accepted significant
insurance risk from another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a
specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the policyholders. As a general
guideline, the Company determines whether it has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits paid
with benefits payable if the insured event did not occur. Insurance contracts can also transfer financial
risk.

Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for the

remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, unless all rights
and obligations are extinguished or expire.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.9 Premiums

Gross written premiums comprise the total premiums receivable for the whole period of cover provided
by the contracts entered into during the reporting period, regardless of whether these are wholly due for
payment in the reporting period, together with any adjustments arising in the reporting period to such
premiums receivable in respect of business written in prior reporting periods. They are recognised on the
date on which the policy commences Additional or return premiums are treated as a re-measurement of
the initial premium. Gross written premiums are stated gross of commission.

Written premiums include an estimate for pipeline premiums (i.e. premiums written but not reported to
the Company by the reporting date) relating only to those underlying contracts of insurance where the
period of cover has commenced prior to the reporting date. The most significant assumption in this
estimate is that prior year experience will be consistent with current experience.

Under some policies, written premiums are adjusted retrospectively in the light of claims experience or
where the risk covered cannot be assessed accurately at the commencement of cover. Where written
premiums are subject to an increase retrospectively, recognition of any potential increase is deferred until
the additional amount can be ascertained with reasonable certainty. Where written premiums are subject
to a reduction, a re-measurement taking account of such a reduction is made as soon as there is an
obligation to the policyholder.

Written premiums are earned over the period of the policy (usually 12 months) on a straight-line basis
except for certain inwards reinsurance contracts where there is a marked unevenness in the incidence of
risk over the period of cover, in which case the premium is earned on a basis which reflects the profile of
risk.

Outward reinsurance premiums are accounted for in the same accounting period as the premiums for the
related direct insurance or inwards reinsurance business.

1.4.10 Fee and Commission Income

Insurance policyholders are charged for policy administration services, investment management services,
surrenders and other contract fees. These fees are recognised as revenue over the period in which the
related services are performed. If the fees are for services provided in future periods, then they are
deferred and recognised over those future periods.

1.4.11 Claims

Claims include all claims occurring during the year, whether reported or not, related internal and external
claims management costs that have been determined by an apportionment of employment costs, and
any adjustments to claims outstanding from previous years.

Internal claims handling costs, including remuneration costs of the claims department, are reclassified
from administrative expenses and included in claims incurred.

Reinsurance claims are recognised when the related gross insurance claim is recognised according to
the terms of the relevant contract.

Technical Provisions

Technical provisions comprise claims outstanding, provisions for unearned premiums and provisions for
unexpired risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.12 Claims Outstanding

Full provision is made on an individual case basis for the estimated cost of claims notified but not settled
by the balance sheet date after taking into account handling costs and settlement trends. A provision for
claims incurred but not reported is established from statistical analysis undertaken by the Company's
actuaries. The methods used and the estimates made are reviewed regularly.

Whilst the Directors consider that the gross provision for claims and the related reinsurance recoveries
are fairly stated on the basis of the information currently available to them, the ultimate liability will vary
as a result of subsequent information and events. Any differences between provisions and subsequent
settlements are dealt with in the technical accounts of later years.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims the Company uses a variety of estimation techniques,
generally based upon statistical analyses of historical experience, which assumes that the development
pattern of current claims will be consistent with past experience.

Allowance is made, however, for changes or uncertainties which may create distortions in the underlying
statistics or which may cause the cost of unsettled claims to change when compared with the cost of
previously settled claims including:

e changes in Company processes which might accelerate or slow down the development and/or
recording of paid or incurred claims compared with the statistics from previous periods;

e changes in the legal environment;
e the effects of inflation;

e changes in the mix of business;

e the impact of large losses;

e movement in industry benchmarks.

A component of these estimation techniques is usually the estimation of the cost of notified but not paid
claims. In estimating the cost of these the Company has regard to claim circumstances as reported, and
information available from loss adjusters and information on the cost of settling claims with similar
characteristics in previous periods.

Large claims impacting each relevant business class were assessed separately where appropriate, being
measured on a case-by-case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the possible distortive
effect of the development and incidence of the large claims.

The provision for claims outstanding is based on information available at the balance sheet date and it is
estimated to give a result within a normal range of outcomes. To the extent that the ultimate cost falls
outside this range, for example where assumptions over claims inflation may alter in future, there is a
contingent liability in respect of this uncertainty. Provisions are calculated allowing for reinsurance
recoveries and a separate asset is recorded for the reinsurers’ share, having regard to collectability.

Anticipated salvage and subrogation recoveries are calculated on an individual case basis. The level of
recovery estimated is set on the basis of information which is currently available, including potential
outstanding claims advices and case law. Salvage and subrogation recoveries are included in claims
incurred in the income statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.12 Claims Outstanding (continued)

The liability is not discounted for the time value of money.
1.4.13 Provisions for unearned premiums

Unearned insurance and inward reinsurance premiums are those proportions of premiums written in a
year that relate to periods of risk after the reporting date. Unearned insurance and inward reinsurance
premiums are deferred over the term of the underlying direct insurance policies for risks-attaching
contracts and over the term of the reinsurance contract for losses-occurring contracts. The provision for
unearned premiums is calculated on a daily pro rata basis. The proportion attributable to subsequent
periods is deferred as a provision for unearned premiums.

Unearned outward reinsurance premiums are deferred over the term of the underlying insurance
policies covered by the contract.

1.4.14 Provisions for unexpired risks

Provision is made where the cost of claims and expenses arising after the end of the financial year from
contracts concluded before that date, is expected to exceed the provision for unearned premiums, net of
deferred acquisition costs. The overall assessment of whether a provision is necessary is made on the
basis of all categories of business. No account is taken of future investment income.

At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 the Company did not have an unexpired risks provision.
1.4.15 Deferred acquisition costs

Commission costs and other costs directly related and incremental to successful acquisition activities
which vary with, and are primarily related to, the acquisition of new insurance contracts and the renewal
of existing insurance contracts are deferred to the extent that they are attributable to premiums unearned
at the balance sheet date. Deferred acquisition costs are amortised over the period in which the related
premiums are earned.

Commissions receivable on outwards reinsurance contracts are deferred and amortised over the term of
the expected premiums payable. Amortisation is reported in the technical account.

1.4.16 Reinsurance assets

The Company cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business. Reinsurance assets represent
balances due from reinsurance companies. Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a
manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision or settled claims associated with the reinsurer’s
policies and are in accordance with the related reinsurance contract.

Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date, or more frequently, when an
indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. Impairment occurs when there is objective
evidence as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance asset that the
Company may not receive all outstanding amounts due under the terms of the contract, and the event
has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Company will receive from the reinsurer. The
impairment loss is recorded in the income statement.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)

1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)

1.4.17 Insurance receivables

Insurance receivables are recognised when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, insurance receivables are
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. The carrying value of insurance
receivables is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, with the impairment loss recorded in the statement of profit or loss.

Insurance receivables are derecognised when the de-recognition criteria for financial assets have been
met.

1.4.18 Insurance payables

Insurance payables are recognised when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair value of the
consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Insurance payables are
derecognised when the obligation under the liability is settled, cancelled or expired.

1.4.19 Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether tangible fixed assets are impaired.

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account at rates calculated over the estimated useful
economic lives of the assets on a straight line basis.

The periods used to depreciate such assets are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Remaining lease term
Software 3 years

Computer Equipment 3 years

Motor Vehicles 4 years

Fixture, fittings and office equipment 5 to 10 years

Expenditure on leasehold improvements, software, computer equipment, motor vehicles, fixtures, fittings
and office equipment is capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful economic lives of the
assets on a straight line basis.

1.4.20 Leases

Assets held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are capitalised at their fair value on the
inception of the leases and depreciated over their estimated useful lives. The finance charges are
allocated over the period of the lease in proportion to the capital amount outstanding. Rentals under
operating leases are charged to the income statement in equal annual instalments over the period of the
lease.

1.4.21 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result

of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.22 Pension Benefits

The Company operates a defined benefit pension scheme, which requires contributions to be made to
separately administered funds. The scheme was closed to new members in July 2003 from which time
membership of a defined contribution plan was, and remains, available.

Employees joining on or after 1 January 2002 became members of the Company defined contribution
pension schemes. Contributions to the defined contribution scheme are recognised in the income
statement in the period in which they become payable.

Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

FRS 102 requires that all past service costs are recognised immediately. The cost of providing benefits
under the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit credit method, which attributes
entitlement to benefits to the current period (to determine current service cost) and to the current and
prior periods (to determine the present value of defined benefit obligations) and is based on actuarial
advice. When a settlement or a curtailment occur the change in the present value of the scheme liabilities
and the fair value of the plan assets reflects the gain or loss which is recognised in the income statement
during the period in which it occurs. Losses and gains are recognised in P&L during the period in which
the change happens.

The net interest element is determined by multiplying the net defined benefit liability by the discount rate,
both determined at the start of the period taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit
liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. The net interest is recognised
in profit or loss.

Re-measurements, comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the return
on the net defined benefit liability (excluding amounts included in net interest) are recognised immediately
in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified
to profit and loss in subsequent periods.

The defined net benefit pension asset or liability in the balance sheet comprises the total of the present
value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds), less
the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. Fair value is based on
market price information and in the case of quoted securities is the published bid price. The value of a
net pension benefit asset is limited to the amount that may be recovered either through reduced
contributions or agreed refunds from the scheme.

Contributions to the defined contribution scheme are recognised in the profit and loss account in the
period in which they become payable.

The pension scheme balance is recognised gross of any related deferred tax balance, with the related
deferred tax item included in the wider deferred tax assets and liabilities.

1.4.23 Foreign currency

The Company has determined USD as its functional currency and has adopted USD as presentational
currency.

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are initially recorded in the
functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transactions, or an appropriate average
rate.
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1. Accounting Policies (continued)
1.4 Significant accounting policies (continued)
1.4.23 Foreign currency (continued)

Monetary assets and liabilities (which include all assets and liabilities from insurance contracts including
unearned premiums and deferred acquisition costs) denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
into the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling on the reporting date. Non-monetary items
denominated in a foreign currency, measured at fair value are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rate ruling at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences are recorded in the non-technical account.

1.4.24 Taxation

Taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax recognised in the reporting period.
Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case tax is recognised either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity as appropriate.

Current or deferred taxation assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Current tax

Current tax liabilities are measured at the amount of corporate income tax expected to be paid to or
recovered from taxation authorities in respect of the taxable profit for the year or prior years. Tax is
calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax arises from timing differences that are differences between taxable profits and total
comprehensive income as stated in the financial statements. These timing differences arise from the
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which they are
recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences at the reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses and other
deferred tax assets are only recognised when it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal
of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits.

Deferred tax is measured using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date and that are expected to apply to the reversal of the timing difference.

1.4.25 Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are
approved by the shareholders. Interim dividends are deducted from equity when they are paid.
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2. Segmental Analysis

An analysis of the underwriting result before investment return is set out below:

Gross Gross Gross Gross Re-
premium  premium claims operating insurance
written earned incurred expenses balance Total
2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Direct insurance:
Marine aviation &
transport 129,402 132,000 (202,278) (36,240) 71,007 (35,511)
Primary Direct & Fac
Property 120,487 122,178 (165,801) (39,189) 25,160 (57,652)
Primary Direct
Commercial Financial 187,943 124,736 (38,637) (40,925) (17.,345) 27,829
Primary Direct
Commercial Liability 536,577 519,319 (365,694) (162,021) (43,891) (52,287)
Personal lines 177,639 149,961 (93,393) (59,415) 3,393 546
1,162,048 1,048,194 (865,803) (337,790) 38,324 (117,075)
Reinsurance 98,614 48,004 (29,420) (45,895) 6,258 (21,053)
Total 1,250,662 1,096,198 (895,223) (383,685) 44,582 (138,128)
Gross Gross Gross Gross Re-
premium  premium claims operating insurance
written earned incurred expenses balance Total
2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Direct insurance:
Marine aviation &
transport 122,257 169,293 (100,387) (51,415) (24,849) (17,358)
Primary Direct & Fac
Property 118,353 121,253 (119,232) (42,304) (1,609) (41,892)
Primary Direct
Commercial Financial 159,170 104,543 (49,879) (32,331) (9,333) 13,000
Primary Direct
Commercial Liability 535,769 549,485 (288,011) (192,588) (61,071) 7,815
Personal lines 197,750 166,464  (74,418) (69,291) (23,940) (1,185)
1,133,299 1,101,038 (631,927) (387,929) (120,802) (39,620)
Reinsurance 68,313 23,588  (14,068) (8,823) (701) (4)
Total 1,201,612 1,124,626 (645,995) (396,752) (121,503) (39,624)

Commissions paid in respect of direct insurance amounted to $205,981k (2016:$199,931k).
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2. Segmental Analysis (continued)

The geographical analysis of gross premiums written by country of underwriting is as follows:

2017 2016
$000 $000
UK 920.491 872 867
Other EU Countries 233434 226 813
Worldwide 96,737 101,932
Total 1,250,662 1,201,612
3. Investment Return
Technical account  Non-Technical Total
General business account

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Income from other financial investments 25127 49,157 2,360 11,849 27,487 61,006

Net gain/(loss) on realisation of investments

— Fair value through profit or loss designated

upon initial recognition 784 603 74 145 858 748
— Available for sale 3,984 9,349 374 2254 4358 11,603
Total Investment Income 29895 59109 2,808 14,248 32,703 73,357

Netunrealised losses on investments

— Fairvalue through profit or loss designated

upon initial recognition 873 34 82 8 955 42
Investment expenses and charges (2,958) (2,391) (278) (576) (3,236) (2,967)
Total investment return 27,810 56,752 2,612 13,680 30,422 70,432

The impairment during the year of in respect of Financial Investments was $1.6m (2016: $0.4m). This is
included within the Available for sale line shown in the above table.
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4. Net operating expenses

2017 2016

$000 $000
Acquisition costs 303,863 275,961
Change in gross deferred acquisition costs (61,890) (44,069)
Depreciation expense (see Note 12) 1,162 1,672
Administrative expenses 140,550 163,289
Gross operating expenses 383,685 396,753
Reinsurers' commission receivable (152,700) (156,549)
Change in Reinsurers' share in deferred acquisition costs 15,741 18,390
Net operating expenses 246.726 258 594

Included within Administrative expenses there is bad debt of $1.3m (2016: $5.1m).

5. Staff Costs and Director’s Remuneration

5.1. Staff costs

All UK staff are employed by Liberty Specialty Markets Limited (LSML), an affiliated company. Employees
are seconded to the Company from LSML. All European branch staff were transferred to Liberty Specialty

Markets Europe S.A.R.L. (LSME) from LMIE in November 2017. The following amounts were incurred
by the Company:

2017 2016
$000 $000
Wages and salaries 54915 60.627
Social security costs 2.809 2.302
Other pension costs 12,253 13,090
Total 69,977 76,019

The average number of employees seconded to or employed by the Company during the year was as
follows:

2017 2016

Number Number

Underwriting 185 185
Claims 37 36
Administration 227 221
Total 449 442
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5. Staff Costs and Director’'s Remuneration (continued)

5.2. Director’'s Remuneration

2017 2016
$000 $000
Emoluments 2,963 2,979
Highest paid Director's Remuneration 896 1,337

During the year, three directors were members of the defined benefit contribution scheme (2016: two).

6. Auditor’'s Remuneration

2017 2016

$000 $000

Audit of the financial statements 910 730
Other fees:

Other senices pursuant to legislation 291 351

Audit-related assurance senices 13 -

Taxation senices - 321

Audit of the group pension scheme 10 11

314 683

1,224 1,413

Auditor's remuneration is included is included as part of administrative expenses in Note 4.
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7. Taxation

7.1 Tax on profit on ordinary activities

2017 2016
$000 $000
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxat 19.25% (2016: 20%) - current year (10,027) 5,047
UK corporation tax - adjustments in respect of prior years 1,815 (3,172)
UK corporation tax (8,212) 1,875
Foreign taxation - current year 5,004 4,690
Foreign tax - adjustments in respect of prior years 1,302 200
Foreign tax 6,306 4,890
Total current taxation (1,906) 6,765
Deferred taxation:
Origination and reversal of timing differences (9,984) 1,295
Effect of changes in taxrates - (360)
Total deferred tax (9,984) 935
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (11,890) 7,700
Tax included in the statement of other comprehensive income
Taxexpense /(income) is made up as follows:
Actuarial loss on pension scheme 1,240 419
Curre.nlttax on unrealised gains and losses on available for sale 1408 2.730
securities
‘ . . .
De en.'t?d tax on unrealised gains and losses on available for sale 480 1.281
securities
Currenttax on Pension Payment (302) -
Tax expense 2,826 4,430
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7. Taxation (continued)
7.2 Factors affecting tax charges for the period

The tax assessed for the year is lower (2016: lower) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the
UK. The differences are reconciled below:

2017 2016

$000 $000
Profit on ordinary activities before tax (125,572) 44,331
Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of UK (24,172) 8,873
corporation taxin the UK of 19.25% (2016: 20%)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,428 690
Taxunder/(over) provided in previous years 3,117 (2,973)
Difference between UK and foreign taxrates on non-UK branches 7,571 605
Deferred tax at rates other than the standard rate for the year 1,396 28
Impact of rate change on deferred tax - (360)
Gain on transfer of assets 641 =
Deferred tax under provided in prior years 693 1,371
Deferred tax not recognised 473 -
Non taxable income (3,037) (534)
Tax (income)/expense for the year (11,890) 7,700

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised at the substantively enacted rate, for the respective
jurisdictions, at the balance sheet date. A reduction in the UK corporation rate from 20% to 19% took
effect from 1 April 2017. In addition, a reduction to the Italian corporate tax rate from 27.5% to 24% took
effect from 1 January 2017,

There will be a further reduction in the UK tax rate to 17% from 1 April 2020 and reductions to the French
corporate tax rate to 28.92% from 1 January 2020, 27.37% from 1 January 2021 and 25.83% from 1
January 2022. The deferred tax balance at 31 December 2017 reflects these enacted tax rates, where
relevant. There has been no material impact to the deferred tax balances as a result of these rate

changes.
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7. Taxation (continued)
7.3 Deferred tax

The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

2017 2016

$000 $000
Unrealised gains on available for sale securities (10,398) (9,933)
Accelerated capital allowances 283 320
Pension costs (2,835) (1,323)
Tax losses 8,109 -
Branch deferred tax liabilities (544) -
Deferred costs (1,255) (4,063)
Deferred tax liability (note 19) (6,640)  (14,999)
An analysis of the movementin deferred taxis as follows:

2017 2016

$000 $000
At 1 January (14,999) (5,471)
Transfer of deferred tax in respect of Singapore disposal . (472)
Deferred tax (expense) / income in profit and loss account 9,984 (935)
Deferred tax (expense) / income in other comprehensive income (1,720) (1,701)
Deferred tax (expense) / income in Retained Eamings - (6,418)
Exchange adjustment 95 (2)
At 31 December (6,640)  (14,999)

The balance of deferred tax losses relates to UK taxable losses carried forward at 31 December 2017 of
$46,947k (2016: nil). The recoverability of these losses has been assessed on future UK taxable profits
expected to reverse from deferred tax liabilities, recognised in the balance sheet.

Gross unrecognised tax losses of $13,918k (2016: $2,406k) and other gross deferred tax assets of
$4,587k (2016: $15,121k) are available to reduce the future taxable profits of the company. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised for branches of the company where it is uncertain that there will be
future taxable profits.

The amount of the net reversal of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities expected to occur during
the year beginning after the reporting period are as follows:

2018
$000
Unrealised gains on Available for sale Securities (1,039)
Revwersal of Claims Equalisation Reserve over 6 years (1,004)
Total expected movement (2,043)

All other positions are too uncertain to predict when they will reverse.
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8. Investment in subsidiary undertakings

The investment in subsidiary undertaking relates solely to LMIE Spain S.L., a holding company
incorporated in Spain, in which the Company holds a 100% investment in ordinary shares.

In addition, as part of the Brexit strategy LMIE entered into the following transactions during the year:
e The Company acquired LSME at book value of $14,100 from Liberty UK and Europe Holdings.
e The Company injected additional capital to LSME of $5,634.
e The Company transferred the fixed assets relating to its European branches at book value of
$94,110 to LSME.
e The Company sold its investment in LSME at book value of $113,844 to Liberty UK and Europe

Holdings.
9. Financial investments

Carrying Purchase

Value Price Listed
2017 $000 $000 $000
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit
trust at fair value through profit and loss 16,828 15,777 -
Debt securities and other fixed income securities at fair
value through OCI 2,189,401 2,198,437 459,942
Deposits with credit institutions at fair value 163,077 163,077 -
Total 2,369,306 2,377,291 459,942

Carrying Purchase

Value Price Listed
2016 $000 $000 $000
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit
trust at fair value through profit and loss 13,494 13,398 -
Debt securities and other fixed income securities at fair
value through OCI 2,218,851 2,213,127 301,958
Deposits with credit institutions at fair value 134,970 134,970 -

Total 2,367,315 2,361,495 301,958

All shares and other variable yield securities are designated at fair value through profit and loss.

Debt securities and other fixed income securities and deposits with credit institutions are held as
available for sale. Changes in fair value are recognised through other comprehensive income.

The following table shows financial investments recorded at fair value analysed between the three
levels in the fair value hierarchy.
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9. Financial investments (continued)

Level1 Level2 Level 3 Total
$000 $000 $000 $000
2017
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in
unit trusts 16,828 16,828
Debt secunties and other fixed income secunties 122 388 2035375 31,638 2.189.401
Deposits with credit institutions - 163,077 - 163,077
Total 122,388 2,198,453 48,466 2,369,306
Level1 Level2 Level3 Total
$000 $000 $000 $000
2016
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in
unit trusts - - 13494 13,494
Debt secunties and other fixed income securities 338.463 1.878.568 1820 2.218.851
Deposits with credit institutions - 134 970 - 134,970
Total 338,463 2,013,538 15,314 2,367,315

There have been no transfers between the various levels during the year.

Included within the Level 1 category are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets
that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date. A quoted price in an active market
provides the most reliable evidence of fair value and is used to measure fair value whenever available,
except as follows:

If the Company holds a large number of similar assets that are required to be measured at fair value, a
quoted price in an active market might be available but not readily accessible for each of those assets
individually. In that case, fair value may be measured using an alternative pricing method that does not
rely exclusively on quoted prices (for example, matrix pricing) as a practical expedient. However, the use
of an alternative pricing method renders the fair value measurement a lower level in the fair value
hierarchy.

In some situations, a quoted price in an active market might not represent fair value at the measurement
date. That might be the case if, for example, significant events (principal-to-principal transactions,
brokered trades, or announcements) occur after the close of a market but before the measurement date.

If the quoted price is adjusted for new information, the adjustment renders the fair value measurement a
lower level in the fair value hierarchy. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices that are either
directly or indirectly observable in the market. If the asset has a specified contractual term, a Level 2 input
must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset.

Adjustments to Level 2 inputs may vary depending on factors specific to the asset type. Those factors
include the condition and/or location of the asset, the extent to which the inputs relate to items that are
comparable to the asset, and the volume and level of activity in the markets within which the inputs are
observed. An adjustment that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety might render the
measurement a Level 3 measurement, depending on the level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
inputs used to determine the adjustment fall.

Liberty Mutual Insurance Europe Limited 45



Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

9. Financial investments (continued)

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value
to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little,
if any, market activity for the asset at the measurement date. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s
own assumptions about the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
including assumptions about risk. Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information
available in the circumstances.

All manually priced broker quotes are non-binding. The Portfolio Manager makes an assessment of the
reasonableness of the broker quote received. Based on the Portfolio Manager's assessment, additional
quotes may be obtained to support the fair value of an investment, in which case, the average of those
quotes is used as the fair value of the investment. The Portfolio Manager provides support for the manual
price and Investments determines the appropriate level (level 2 or level 3) for the security. Manually priced
broker quotes obtained on an individual case basis that cannot be substantiated to represent an
executable/ exit price are classified as level 3. If the security was actively trading (with significant volume)
within a thirty day period from the last day it was manually priced, evidence of the active trade with a
broker quote is appropriate documentation to classify the security a level 2. If the security was not actively
trading, they are classified as level 3. When the average of multiple broker quotes is used, the level (2 or
3) is determined based on whether or not those quotes can be substantiated.

The Company asset portfolio includes Private Equity investments. These have all been classified as Level
3 based on the criteria above. The Group Portfolio Manager receives partnership statements / financial
statements for each investment from which the residual values are recorded, and then potentially adjusted
when combined with adjusted ending value reports. The Group Portfolio Manager then recommends a
valuation for each position, based on these statements and their own assessment/judgement.

10. Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations

2017 2016

$000 $000

Underwriting debtors 234,871 169,382

Amounts due from group undertakings 25,572 24,848

260,443 194,232

11. Other debtors

2017 2016
$000 $000
Amounts due from group undertakings 13,643 4,769
Other debtors 6,360 2,323
20,003 7,092

Included in other debtors as at 31 December 2017 is a net tax debtor balance of $212k. The net tax
debtor of $212k also includes creditor balances in respect of other overseas branches which have not
been separately disclosed on the basis that the balances are not sufficiently material.
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12. Tangible assets

Fixtures,
Leasehold fittings &
improvements equipment Total
$000 $000 $000
Cost:
At 1 January 2017 10,498 7,142 17,640
Additions during the year 0 18 18
Disposals during the year (1,298) (2,520) (3,818)
At 31 December 2017 9,200 4,640 13,840
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2017 2,250 4,159 6,409
Charge for the year 513 649 1,162
Disposals during the year (1,148) (2,408) (3,556)
At 31 December 2017 1,615 2,400 4,015
Carrying value at 31 December 2017 7,585 2,240 9,825
Carrying value at 31 December 2016 8,248 2,983 11,231
13. Deferred acquisition costs
2017 2016
$000 $000
At 1 January 182.623 147 361
Change in deferred acquisition costs 61.890 25678
Foreign exchange 7138 9.584
At 31 December 251,651 182,623
14. Share capital
2017 2016
$000 $000
Issued and fully paid
290.239.101 (2016: 290.225.001) ordinary shares of $1 each 290.239 290,225
At 31 December 290.239 290.225
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15. Reserves

Share premium account

This statutory reserve records the amount of the nominal value received for shares sold, less transaction

costs.

The movement on the share premium reserve in the year was nil (2016: $99,999,999).

Available for sale reserve

This reserve records the unrealised fair value gains, net of deferred taxation, on available for sale

investments.

16. Provisions for unearned premium

Reinsurers’
Gross Share Net
2017 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January 2017 774 354 (252.883) 521471
Premiums written in the year 1,250,662 (490 942) 759,720
Premiums earned in the year (1.096,198) 453 696 (642 .502)
Foreign exchange 18.739 4,695 23434
At 31 December 2017 947,557 (285,434) 662,123
Reinsurers’
Gross Share Net
2016 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January 2016 746.717 (274 .037) 472 680
Premiums written in the year 1.201.612 (460.149) 741 463
Premiums earned in the year (1.124.626) 469 348 (655.278)
Foreign exchange (49.349) 11.955 (37.394)
At 31 December 2016 774,354 (252,883) 521,471
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17. Claims outstanding

Reinsurers’
Gross share Net
2017 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January 2017 2.008.680 (716.984) 1,291.696
Claims incurred during the year 895,223 (361,319) 533.904
Claims paid during the year (509.236) 166,575 (342 661)
Foreign exchange 74 681 (980) 73.701
At 31 December 2017 2,469,348 (912,708) 1,556,640
Reinsurers'
Gross share Net
2016 $000 $000 $000
At 1 January 2016 2071713 (760.033) 1,311,680
Claims incurred dunng the year 645,995 (209.686) 436.309
Claims paid during the year (581.470) 224 021 (357 449)
Foreign exchange (127 .558) 28.714 (98.844)
At 31 December 2016 2,008,680 (716,984) 1,291,696
18. Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations

2017 2016

$000 $000

Underwriting creditors 122,711 88,906

Amounts due to group undertakings 68,374 77,559

191,085 166,466
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19. Other creditors including taxation and social security

2017 2016

$000 $000

Premium taxes payable 30,314 19,888
Deferred Tax Liability (Note 7) 6,640 14,999
UK and overseas net tax creditor - 6,854
Social security - 285
Amounts owed to group undertakings 16,114 8,415
Other creditors 18,411 22,806
71,479 73,247

Included within the UK and overseas net tax creditor as at 31 December 2016 of $6,854k is a tax debtor
balance of $4,795k in relation to the UK in respect of group relief surrendered to fellow group companies
for payment for the year ended 31 December 2015. The creditor of $6,854k also includes debtor balances
in respect of other overseas branches which have not been separately disclosed on the basis that the
balances are not sufficiently material.

20. Other provisions

The table below describes the movement in the Onerous lease provision during the year:

2017 2016
$000 $000
At 1 January 3.250 977
Onerous lease charge inc_ dilapidations (2.304) 2273
At 31 December 946 3,250

On 1 November 2016 Liberty Speciality Markets (LSM) transferred its UK regional Property and Casualty
business via a renewal rights agreement with Aspen Risk Management Limited (ARML). The ongoing
costs relating to the branch offices affected by the transfer have been accounted for within the Onerous
lease provision (2017: $0.8m, 2016: $2.7m). This provision has been reduced substantially during the
year as a result of the reallocation of the leases to Aspen. The Company still holds the Birmingham lease.

The Onerous lease balance at 31 December 2016 relates to a building occupied prior to integration. The

lease was extinguished on 9 January 2015. A balance still remains as at 31 December 2017 ($0.1m) due
to an increase in rent prior to the departure of the Company.
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21. Pension schemes

The Company participated in a funded group defined benefit scheme in the UK, together with fellow
subsidiaries of Liberty Mutual Holding Company Inc. The scheme closed to future accrual on 1 July 2012
with active members of the scheme becoming deferred pensioners in the Scheme from 2 July 2012.

The Scheme is administered by a separate board of Trustees which is legally separate from the
Company. The Trustees are composed of representatives of both the employer and employees. The
Trustees are required by law to act in the interest of all relevant beneficiaries and are responsible for the
investment policy with regard to the assets plus the day to day administration of the benefits.

Under the Scheme, employees are entitled to annual pensions on retirement at age 65 of one-sixtieth of
final pensionable salary for each year of service. Pensionable salary is defined as basic salary less the
Basic State Pension. Benefits are also payable on death and following other events such as withdrawing
from active service.

UK legislation requires that pension schemes are funded prudently. The last funding valuation of the
Scheme was carried out by a qualified actuary as at 1 July 2016 and showed a deficit of £2m. The
Company and fellow subsidiaries have paid deficit contributions of £2m in April 2017 which were intended
to make good this shortfall. The next funding valuation is due no later than 1 July 2019, with the results
to be finalised no later than 1 October 2020.

No allowance has been made for administration expenses (including PPF levies). These are met directly
by the Company.

Reporting at 31 December 2017

The results of the latest funding valuation at 1 July 2016 have been adjusted to the balance sheet date,
taking into account experience over the period since 1 July 2016, changes in market conditions, and
differences in financial and demographic assumptions. The present value of the defined benefit obligation
is measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

Assumptions

The principal assumptions used to calculate the liabilities under are set out below:

Main financial assumptions

2017 2016
At 31st December % p.a. % p.a.
RPI inflation 32 33
CPI inflation 749 22
Rate of general long-term increase in salaries N/A N/A
Pension increase (fixed 3%) 30 30
Pension increase (fixed 5%) 50 50
Pension increase (LPIS) 31 31
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 2.5 27

The financial adjustments reflect the nature and term of the Scheme'’s liabilities.
The post-retirement mortality assumptions are based on the SAPS Light base tables. This assumption is

then combined with an allowance for future mortality improvements in line with the CMI 2015 projection
factors allowing for a long-term rate of future improvements of 1.25% per annum.
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21. Pension schemes (continued)

For a pensioner aged 65 at the year end, the assumptions are that they will live on average for a further
24 1 years if they are male and for a further 25.3 years if they are female.

Asset allocation

The assets in the scheme and the expected return were:

2017 2016
Value at 31 December $000 $000
UK equities 22 953 19.070
Alternatives 6,097 3,073
Liability Hedging (2,890) (1.488)
Corporate bonds 5.701 9703
Fixed Interest Gilts 3.307 2644
Index-Linked Gilts 6.430 5743
Property 2141 817
Cash/net current assets 2433 1.116
Total 46.172 40,678
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21. Pension schemes (continued)

Reconciliation of funded status to balance sheet

2017 2016
Value at 31 December $000 $000
Fairvalue of scheme assets 46,172 40678
Presentvalue of funded defined benefit abligations (38.053) (36,345)
Asset recognised in the balance sheet 8,119 4,333
Breakdown of amounts recognised in profit and loss
2017 2016
$000 $000
Financing cost
- Interest on net defined benefit (asset) (149) (154)
Pension expense recognised in profit and loss (149) (154)
Breakdown of amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
2017 2016
$000 $000
Return on plan assets below/(in excess of) that recognised in net interest (2,169) {8.874)
Actuarial (gains)losses due to changes in actuarial assumptions 1,377 8.475
Actuanal (gains)liosses due to changes in demographic assumptions 45 -
Actuarial gains due to liability experience (926 (72)
Total amount recognised in other comprehensive income (1,673) (471)
Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation
2017 2016
$000 $000
Opening defined benefit obligation (DBO) 36,345 34 035
Interest expense on DBO 1.026 1.060
Actuarial (gain)/losses on liabilities 513 7.698
Net benefits paid out (2.987) (559)
Re-translation of opening balance 3,156 (5.889)
Closing defined benefit obligation 38,053 36,345
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21. Pension schemes (continued)

Changes to the fair value of Scheme assets

2017 2016
$000 $000
Opening fair value of Scheme assets 40,678 38,557
Interest income on Scheme assets 1,181 1,201
Remeasurement gains/(losses)on Scheme assets 2,243 8,152
Contributions made by the employer 1,550 -
Net benefits paid out (2,987) (561)
Re-translation of opening balance 3,507 (6,671)
Closing fair value of assets 46,172 40,678
Actual return on Scheme assets
2017 2016
$000 $000
Interestincome on Scheme assets 1,181 1,201
Remeasurement gains/losses on scheme assets 2.243 8.152
Surplus/ (Deficit) in the scheme 3,424 9,353

22. Risk Management
22.1. Governance framework

The objective of LSM’s Risk Management and Internal Control Framework (RMF), under which the
Company operates, is to enable it to engage with risks in a controlled fashion that is consistent with the
Board’s appetite and its available capital capacity while retaining the ability to implement its long term
business plans and meet its obligations to policyholders. It sets out the Company’s approach to, how it
defines risk and cascades risk appetites and the processes for ensuring the appropriate and timely
identification, reporting, monitoring and management of risk and capital. The Company's senior
management recognises the importance of maintaining an efficient and effective risk management
system.

The RMF establishes the governance of the risk management activities undertaken within the Company,
including the setting of roles and responsibilities, outlining the key risk management concepts and
providing a clear structure linking the individual risk policies, processes and procedures. The RMF is
owned by the Board.

The key concepts include the linkage of business strategy to risk management strategy, the identification
of emerging risks, the risk universe, the management of risks through the setting of risk appetites and the
creation, maintenance, recording and testing of internal controls.

The Company has an established Risk Management function (which includes the Risk Management
department under the Chief Risk Officer (CRO), and processes within the Capital Management and
Actuarial departments), with oversight from the Risk Management Committee (a sub-committee of the
Board) chaired by an independent non-executive director; the terms of reference incorporate the CRO's
ability to convene a meeting independently of the executive management. In addition, the terms of
reference for relevant management committees incorporate risk management responsibilities as
delegated by the Board.
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22. Risk Management (continued)
22.1. Governance framework (continued)

The Company recognises that all staff have a role to play in managing the risks faced by the Company.
This reflects the three lines of defence model adopted by the Company, consistent with market best
practice, which emphasises the different roles in managing risk played by business units, advisory
functions such as Risk Management, and independent assurance providers such as Internal Audit. The
roles and responsibilities are documented in the risk policies, which are owned by the Board and adhere
to the Company’s documentation standards. Each risk policy is owned by a member of the Executive
Management Committee. The policies include the activities of identification, quantification, management
and reporting on risks, including reporting on the performance of controls and the Company’s actual risk
position against the Board risk appetite. The Company undertakes extensive work to validate the
quantification of its risk profile using the Standard Formula and Internal Model! including the use of
sensitivity testing, and stress and scenario testing. The Company’s risk profile is reported to the Board
via the ORSA and the Chief Risk Officer's report.

22.2. Capital management objectives, policies and approach

The Company structures its capital to meet a wider LSM post tax return on equity (ROE) target over the
underwriting and economic cycle, and to protect it's A (Strong) rating from Standard & Poor's and A
(Excellent) rating from A.M. Best. Company policyholders benefit from a parental guarantee covering the
Company’s insurance obligations to an unlimited extent, drawn upon Liberty Mutual Insurance Company
(LMIC). The guarantee was originally granted by the Board of LMIC and ratified by the Massachusetts’
Department of Insurance in 2002 and last updated and re-issued on 13 April 2006.

The Company manages its capital through the management of its assets to ensure that cash is available
to pay claims (measured at the 1 in 200 year loss) as they fall due. Asset-liability management is reviewed
in conjunction with investment and liquidity management in order to optimise the overall performance of
assets. The Company will set regulatory capital based on the overall LSM plan agreed in the above
statement. The capital requirement is supported by two components: ordinary share capital and retained
earnings, both of which qualify as unrestricted Tier 1 capital under Solvency Il. The Company'’s surplus
funds are primarily held within the primary investment portfolio, which is managed under guidelines which
are designed to ensure they are liquid within appropriate timeframes. Surplus funds are held in US dollars,
the Company’s functional and presentational currency.

As part of its risk appetite LMIE defines the amount of capital required to meet its internal risk appetite
and regulatory capital requirement. LMIE’s capital risk appetite is set by the Company’s Board as part of
the ORSA process. The Board will have the potential to pay a dividend only if the solvency ratio is within
its stated risk appetite.

Refer to Strategic Report for further details of the regulatory capital requirement.

22.3. Insurance risk

Insurance risk incorporates premium risk and reserve risk. Premium risk is the variation of underwriting
results from plan for reasons other than operational or insurance counterparty risk. This is influenced
by the frequency and severity of claims events.

Reserve risk is the variation in policyholder reserves for prior accident years required for reasons other
than operational or insurance counterparty risk. This is influenced by uncertainty in the notification of
claims and value of claims paid.

Premium risk is mitigated through the use of a diversified business plan operating within Board risk

appetites and supported through the Company’s control environment, including underwriting controls.
Reinsurance is utilised to mitigate against exposure to individual and correlated events.
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22. Risk Management (continued)
22.3. Insurance risk (continued)

Reinsurance is purchased on both a proportional and non-proportional basis. The majority of the
proportional reinsurance is purchased on a quota share basis; this is designed to reduce the overall
exposure to certain classes of business. Non-proportional reinsurance is purchased on an excess of loss
and stop loss basis. The excess of loss reinsurance is purchased on both a per-risk and catastrophe
basis covering natural and non-naturally occurring perils. The stop loss is purchased on a net underwriting
loss basis to protect the Company’s overall solvency. The non-proportional reinsurance is purchased to
mitigate against shock losses to individual underwriting product lines and to protect the Company’s
balance sheet from catastrophe losses on a multi-line basis.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims
provision and are in accordance with the reinsurance contracts. The use of reinsurance exposes the
Company to a counterparty credit exposure; this is reported under credit risk.

The Company’s business plan is developed in accordance with the Company’s Board risk appetites to
reduce the variability of the underwriting profit through the creation of a diversified portfolio of insurance
contracts. The Company's portfolio of general insurance contracts is spread across multiple product lines,
industry sectors and geographic regions. The Company writes both insurance and reinsurance contracts:
both of which predominantly cover twelve months duration. Contracts are written by specialised
underwriting teams in accordance to the business plan and the underwriting controls.

Furthermore, strict claim review policies to assess all new and ongoing claims, regular detailed review of
claims handling procedures and frequent investigation of possible fraudulent claims are all policies and
procedures put in place to reduce the Company'’s risk exposure. The Company further enforces a policy
of actively managing and promptly pursuing claims, in order to reduce its exposure to unpredictable future
developments that can negatively impact the business.

The Company has exposure to the Ogden Discount Rate primarily through the UK Casualty lines. The
change announced by the Lord Chancellor in February 2017 that the UK personal injury discount rate
would reduce from plus 2.5% to minus 0.75% increased the estimate of the technical provisions. There
is ongoing uncertainty, with up and downside risk, as to what legislative changes the UK Government
may make to the methodology and approach used to inform the rate.

Exposure to concentrations arising from the insurance contracts is a material risk to the Company. The
Board risk appetites include specific exposure management limits; these are cascaded down to individual
underwriting portfolios. The concentrations are tiered in accordance to the Company's exposure
management policies; with the resulting tier determining the appropriate methodology for quantification.
The Company supports its internal quantification of exposure concentrations by utilising external,
commercially available exposure management models.

Exposure management models are validated to ensure they are parameterised appropriately for the
Company's portfolio, however, there remains a risk that the assumptions and techniques used in these
models are unreliable or that claims arising from an unmodelled event are greater than those arising from
a modelled event.

As a further guide to the level of concentration of exposure the Company writes, the following table shows
the Company's exposure to its three largest natural catastrophe perils:

Company loss Company loss

Industry Loss Gross Final Net

$000 $000 $000

North American Hurricane 220,339,000 63,000 31,000
European Wind 39,196,000 153,000 70.000
UK Flood 70,014,000 105,000 32,000
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22. Risk Management (continued)

22.3. Insurance risk (continued)

Reserve risk is mitigated through the use of detailed analysis performed by the Reserving Committee,
including regular assessment of the results of actuarial studies, claims analysis, underwriting reviews and
benchmarking exercises. In addition, business plans are developed to ensure that the long term reserve
profile of the Company remains stable.

The table below sets out the concentration of outstanding claim liabilities by type of contract:

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Re- Re-

Gross insurance of Gross insurance of
liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities liabilities Net liabilities
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Commercial (1,936,791) 674,076 (1,262,715) (1,700,539) 600,617 (1,099,922)
Specialty (490,192) 223,584 (266,608) (291,236) 113,880 (177,356)
Reinsurance (42,365) 15,048 (27,317) (16,905) 2,487 (14,418)
Total (2,469,348) 912,708 (1,556,640) (2,008,680) 716,984 (1,291,696)

The geographical concentration of the outstanding claim liabilities is noted below. The disclosure is based
on the countries where business is written.

31 December 2017 31 December 2016

Re- Re-

Gross insurance of Gross insurance of
liabilities liabilities Net liabilities liabilities liabilities Net liabilities
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
UK (1,621,888) 485,783 (1,136,105) (1,353,888) 393,338 (960,550)
EEA (566,200) 272,293 (293,907) (430,871) 209,966 (220,905)
International (281,260) 154,632 (126,628) (223,921) 113,680 (110,241)
Total (2,469,348) 912,708 (1,556,640) (2,008,680) 716,984 (1,291,696)

Key Assumptions

The principal assumption underlying the liability estimates is that the future claims development will follow
a similar pattern to past claims development experience. This includes assumptions in respect of paid
and incurred claims, claim handling costs and claim inflation factors for each underwriting year. Additional
qualitative judgements are used to assess the extent to which past trends may not apply in the future, for
example: once—off occurrence; changes in market factors such as public attitude to claiming: economic
conditions: as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, delays in settlement, policy conditions, and
claims handling procedures. Judgement is further used to assess the extent to which external factors
such as judicial decisions and government legislation affect the estimates.
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22. Risk Management (continued)
22.3. Insurance risk (continued)
Sensitivities

There is a wide range of possible outcomes in assessing the technical provisions due to the uncertainty
associated in estimating ultimate claims and premiums for the business written.

For all actuarial projections the final outcome will depend on the actual development of claims which in
turn relies upon the appropriateness of the historic data to predict the likely development by class.

Unforeseen changes may affect the suitability of that data and would be expected to have an impact on
the accuracy of the results and increased uncertainty in the projections. Such issues would include
unexpected claims inflation, shocks to the global economy, changes in legislation and the emergence of
new types of claim.

The results and accuracy of some underwriting classes can be sensitive to the performance of certain
key contracts, either through large exposures or through a large volume of business being written under
the contract, relative to the size of the account. Additionally ultimate claims are highly dependent to
exposure to and the future incidence to economic events given the nature of the underlying risks through
Financial Institution exposures.

A large proportion of the Technical Provisions are in long-tail casualty classes, which increases the
uncertainty relative to other classes of business. The Actuarial best estimates make no provision for
potential uncertainty of future claims arising from new latent causes or classes of claim not as yet
materially recognised in the historical experience.

An increasingly significant proportion of business is also written through coverholders. There is increased
uncertainty in this business as a result of the challenges in maintaining underwriter discipline in a
softening market.

Significant assumptions for the Company did not materially change from the previous period.

The following table illustrates the impact a 5% increase or decrease in net technical provisions would
have on the profit or loss before tax:

2017 2016
5% Increase 5% Decrease 5% Increase 5% Decrease
$000 $000 $000 $000
Total (77.832) 77832 (64,585) 64,585
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22.3. Insurance risk (continued)

Claims development table

The following tables show the estimates of cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and
IBNR for each underwriting year at each reporting date, together with cumulative payments to date.

Gross insurance contract outstanding claims provision as at 31 December 2017:

2010 and

Estimate of cumulative prior 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Total
claims $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
At end of underwriting year 1,872,841 263210 307,761 269,092 281377 477,245 332264 490,382

One year later 2,019,888 471,368 624,269 521672 687694 814668 705138 -

Two years later 2,072,338 526,749 618,885 546721 657618 925475 - E

Three years later 2,167,047 512008 593,072 535086 707,060 - - -

Four years later 2118567 467,053 560,005 531789 - - = -

Five years later 1,825637 449690 572,212 - - - - -

Six years later 1,786,433 444836 - - - - - -

Sewen years later 1,744,626 - = - - i - -

Cumulative payments 1463636 359,585 443,034 345039 384878 394,355 212951 48,691

Estimated balance to pay 280,990 85251 129,178 186,750 322,181 531,120 492187 441690 2,469,348

Net insurance contract outstanding claims provision as at 31 December 2017:

2010 and

Estimate of cumulative prior 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Total
claims $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
At end of underwriting year 1,025,714 107,623 148,458 182208 236,850 341735 231,994 269,504

One year later 1,133,272 229,899 297,620 339890 380,529 547,772 454919 -

Two years later 1,153,008 247959 301,362 354635 370,050 627515 - -

Three years later 1,153,934 234209 338424 344632 412898 - - -

Four years later 1,121,653 246,364 315,206 343483 - - - -

Five years later 973,067 234560 328,061 - B - - -

Six years later 952,822 236401 - - - - - -

Sewen years later 944,584 - - - - - - -

Cumulative payments 758,035 186665 242176 228016 199801 274920 136649 34,464

Estimated balance to pay 186,549 49736 85885 115467 213097 352595 318,271 235,040 1,556,640

As claims develop, and the ultimate cost of claims becomes more certain, the relative level of margin
maintained should decrease. In line with expectation the ultimate losses for prior years have decreased,
however, the development tables show an increase. The increase in ultimate cost of claims is driven by
foreign exchange movements.

The 2015 and 2016 underwriting year developments include reserves relating to policies earned in
2017.

22.4. Financial risk
The elements of Financial Risk below constitute the types of risk required for disclosure by FRS 102
section 34 Specialised Activities: Financial Institutions paragraph 23. This differs to how the Company

identifies and evaluates risk. More information on how the Company manages its risk is outlined in
Principle Risks and Uncertainties on page 5.
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22. Risk Management (continued)

22.4. Financial risk (continued)

22.4.1(i) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial change in value due to actual credit losses deviating from expected credit
losses due to the failure of another party to meet its contractual debt obligations. The principal source of
credit risk arises from the inability of reinsurers to meet their contractual obligations if they become due.

The following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the Company's exposure to credit risk:

Robust governance structures with the Board setting headline risk appetites and cascading this
down to the rest of the business, with relevant risk mitigation strategies implemented including
robust controls and monitoring of key risk indicators.

A credit risk policy and procedure document setting out the framework for what constitutes credit
risk for the Company. The policy and procedure document is regularly reviewed for pertinence
and for changes in the credit risk environment. Compliance with Company policies and
procedures is monitored, and exposures and breaches are reported to the relevant committee.
All committees meet on a regular basis, with exception meetings held if necessary.

Ensuring counterparties are within risk appetite by dealing with companies that have a good credit
rating or financial standing and active mitigation of credit risk by obtaining collateral or financial
guarantees where necessary and thereafter ensuring appropriate monitoring.

From an investment perspective, credit risk captures the potential loss due to default or migration
to a lower rating. An Investment Management Policy sets out the assessment and determination
of what constitutes credit risk (as a subset of market risk). Compliance with the policy is
monitored; exposures and any breaches are reported to the Investment Committee. The policy
is reviewed regularly. Limits are set for financial investments; a minimum overall average credit
rating must be maintained in addition to minimum rating requirements per asset.
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22. Risk Management (continued)

22.4. Financial risk (continued)

22.4.1(i) Credit risk (continued)

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk (including an analysis of financial assets

exposed to credit risk) for the components of the statement of financial position. Included within past due
are balances of up to 9 months overdue. The Company policy is to write off any balances overdue by

more than 9 months.

Neither past

_due nor pagtpue Impaired Total

impaired
2017 $000 $000 $000 $000
Debt securities 2,191,075 (1,674) 2,189,401
Deposits with credit institutions 163,077 - - 163,077
Deposits with ceding undertakings 32,497 - - 32,497
Reinsurer' share of claims outstanding 912,708 - - 912,708
Debtors arising out of direct insurance
operations 295,702 99,285 (18,785) 376,202
Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 211,188 49,255 - 260,443
Other debtors 6,359 - - 6,359
Cash at bank and in hand 174,066 - - 174,066
Total credit risk 3,986,672 148,540 (20,459) 4,114,753

Neither past

_due nor oo Due Impaired Total

impaired
2016 $000 $000 $000 $000
Debt securities 2,219,344 - (492) 2,218,852
Deposits with credit institutions 134,970 - - 134,970
Deposits with ceding undertakings 29,415 - - 29,415
Reinsurer' share of claims outstanding 716,984 - - 716,984
Debtors arising out of direct insurance
operations 230,189 90,517 (21,485) 299,221
Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 144,993 49,239 s 194,232
Other debtors 2,323 - - 2,323
Cash at bank and in hand 89,652 - - 89,652
Total credit risk 3,567,870 139,756  (21,977) 3,685,649
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22. Risk Management (continued)
22.4. Financial risk (continued)
22.4.1(ii) Credit risk - ratings

The tables below provide information regarding the credit risk exposure of the Company at 31 December
2017. Assets have been classified by way of a waterfall approach. Three rating agents are used in this
analysis where possible. Where each of the three provides a rating, the median is selected. However,
where at least two of the ratings are equivalent, the majority prevails. If only two ratings are provided,
then prudency prevails and the lower of the two is selected. Where only one rating is obtainable, that
rating is used. Internal ratings are then applied for those instances where an external rating does not
exist. Debtors including other debtors, other than amounts due from outwards reinsurers, have been
excluded from the table as these are not rated.

Credit ratings relating to financial assets that are
neither past due nor impaired

AAA AA A BBB <BBB Not Rated Total
2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Debt securities 407,052 471,438 534,120 760,805 15,986 = 2,189,401
Deposits w ith credit institutions 103,098 % 31,521 5,807 - 22,651 163,077
Deposits w ith ceding
undertakings % = 30,370 = < 2127 32,497
Reinsurer' share of claims
outstanding - 5,894 860,754 - - 46,060 912,708
Debtors arising out of
reinsurance operations - - 40,426 - - 836 41,262
Cash at bank and in hand = 5,212 161,825 1,063 = 5,966 174,066
Total credit risk 510,150 482,544 1,659,016 767,675 15,986 77,640 3,513,011

Credit ratings relating to financial assets that are
neither past due nor impaired

AAA AA A BBB <BBB Not Rated Total
2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Debt securities 553,147 518,872 524,698 589,244 32,890 - 2,218,851
Deposits with credit institutions 49,146 - 54,547 2,279 - 28,998 134,970
Deposits w ith ceding i i i i
undertakings 27,308 2107 29,415
Reinsurer' share of claims
outstanding 111,779 584,453 20,752 716,984
Debtors arising out of _
reinsurance operations 21,653 32,416 - - 2,734 56,803
Cash at bank and in hand - 4,511 84,374 766 - 89,651
Total credit risk 602,293 656,815 1,307,796 592,289 32,890 54,591 3,246,674
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22, Risk Management (continued)
22.4. Financial risk (continued)
Maximum Credit Exposure

Itis the Company’s policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across its credit risk portfolio.
This enables management to focus on the applicable risks and comparison of credit exposures. The
attributable financial ratings are assessed and updated regularly. During the year all live counterparties
were within acceptable limits and had acceptable ratings, there were no breach of set limits.

The Company actively manages its product mix to ensure that there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

Collateral

Credit Risk is also mitigated by entering into collateral agreements. The Investment Committee monitors
the market value, credit quality and asset type of the collateral. The amount and type of collateral required
depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty, with the relevant procedures being
completed and management having to give sign off regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and
the value of collateral held. These arrangements are then monitored to ensure parameters are adhered
to and valuations or ratings continue to be acceptable. Collateral was held in the form of either Letters of
Credit or funds held within designated accounts. Please refer to note 22 for more information.

22.4.2 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the probability of loss arising from situations where the Company either has insufficient
cash to meet its financial obligations or is required to sell assets below their fair value to meet cash
demands.

Liquidity risk is mitigated through the use of asset-liability modelling and through the maintenance of a
diversified and appropriately liquid portfolio of assets.

LMIE holds capital to cover the risk that assets are required to be liquidated below book value in a
stressed (1 in 200 year) scenario, as well as balancing the liquidity of the investment portfolio.

Based on a review of the historic liquidity of assets in stressed scenarios, LMIE will ensure that the
weighting of bonds within liquidity tiers 1 & 2 will exceed 85% of the total investment portfolio.

The Company will maintain a diversified and appropriately liquid portfolio aimed at minimising the
mismatch in cash flows between the assets and net-liabilities. llliquid investments will be considered on
a case-by-case basis depending on the supporting justification; these securities will be subject to regular
review to ensure the impact on liquidity risk is immaterial.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on remaining

undiscounted contractual obligations, including interest payable, and outstanding claim liabilities based
on the estimated timing of claim payments resulting from recognised insurance liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
22. Risk Management (continued)
22.4. Financial risk (continued)

22.4.2 Liquidity risk (continued)

0-1year 1-3years 3-5years >5years Total
2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Outstanding claim liabilities 582,755 1,013,142 517,302 356,149 2,469,348
Creditors 269,814 - - - 269,814
Total credit risk 852,569 1,013,142 517,302 356,149 2,739,162

0-1year 1-3years 3-5years >5years Total
2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Qutstanding claim liabilities 238,737 870,868 508,043 391,032 2,008,680
Creditors 262,408 - - - 262,408
Total credit risk 501,145 870,868 508,043 391,032 2,271,088

22.4.3 Market risk
Market risk is the risk of fluctuations to the net asset value (NAV) due to the volatility or level of financial

variables impacting primarily the value of fixed income securities and private equity funds and the
discounted value of net-liabilities. Market risk is comprised of:

e Currency risk;
e Equity risk;
e Credit and Spread risk;

e |Interest rate risk.

The following policies and procedures are in place to govern the exposure to market risk:

e AnlInvestment Management Policy exists that sets out the assessment and determination of what
constitutes market risk for the Company.

* The Investment Management Policy details how the Company measures, monitors and mitigates
the potential market risks posed by the investment portfolio. Compliance with the policy is
monitored with exposures and any breaches reported to the Investment Committee and the Risk
Committee. The policy is reviewed regularly for pertinence and for changes in the risk
environment.

e The measurement, monitoring and reporting of market risk takes into account the profile of the
net technical provisions and is reflective of the financial risk caused by the interaction of the
assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

22. Risk Management (continued)
22.4. Financial risk (continued)
22.4.3 Market risk (continued)
22.4.3(i) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Company's functional currency is the USD and its exposure to foreign exchange risk arises primarily
with respect to transactions in Euro, GBP and Other Currencies. The Company seeks to mitigate the risk
by matching foreign currency denominated liabilities with assets denominated in the same currency.

The table below summarises the exposure of the financial assets and liabilities to foreign currency
exchange risk at the reporting date, as follows:

GBP usD EUR OTH Total
2017 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial investments 524,034 1413672 357,010 74590 2,369,306
Reinsurers' share of technical provisions 270,932 560,911 326,666 39,633 1,198,142
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 113,570 310,759 186,109 26,207 636,645
Cash and cash equivalents 15,591 97,910 22,783 37,782 174,066
Other assets 113,907 156,238 69,351 10,581 350,077
Total assets 1,038,034 2,539,490 961,919 188,793 4,728,236
Technical provisions 872,778 1,478,010 931,690 134427 3,416,905
Insurance and reinsurance payables 88,531 2,371 98,052 9,381 198,335
Other creditors 20,054 112,772 36,490 11,941 181,257
Total liabilities 981,363 1,593,153 1,066,232 155,749 3,796,497
Net Assets 56,671 946,337 (104,313) 33,044 931,739
GBP usD EUR OTH Total
2016 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Financial investments 523,601 1,496,400 285,685 61,629 2,367,315
Reinsurers' share of technical provisions 173,345 462,963 250,587 82,972 969,867
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 89,148 260,006 119,881 24,418 493,453
Cash and cash equivalents 10,244 15,015 13,644 50,749 89,652
Other assets 84,171 123,082 46,881 12,343 266,477
Total assets 880,509 2,357,466 716,678 232,111 4,186,764
Technical provisions 719,492 1,128,506 707,121 227915 2,783,034
Insurance and reinsurance payables 27,595 88,433 58,868 14,265 189,161
Other creditors 41,857 112,735 28,715 8,925 192,232
Total liabilities 788,944 1,329,674 794,704 251,105 3,164,427
Net Assets 91,565 1,027,792 (78,026) (18,994) 1,022,337
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

22. Risk Management (continued)
22.4. Financial risk (continued)
22.4.3 Market risk (continued)
22.4.3(i) Currency risk (continued)

The table below gives an indication of the impact on net asset value of a percentage change in the relative
strength of the USD against GBP and Euro:

2017 2016
$000 $000
Dollar weakens:
10% against other currencies (5,294) 1,505
20% against others currencies (11.911) 3.385
Dollar strengthens
10% against other currencies 4.331 (1.231)
20% against others currencies 7.940 (2.257)

22.4.3(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk of fluctuations to the net asset value (NAV) due to movements in the term
structure of the risk free rate.

The Market and Liquidity Risk Policy constrains the manager to a maximum loss that can be suffered as
the result of an interest rate risk mismatch between the assets and net-liabilities. The Company has no
significant concentration of interest rate risk.

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in interest rates, taking into account
the term structure, with all other variables held constant, showing the impact on equity of the effects of
changes in interest rates on the market value of all invested assets exposed to interest rate risk.

This measures the impact on equity (for available for sale investments) that would arise from a reasonably
possible change in interest rates at the reporting date on financial instruments at the period end.

The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on interest

rate risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in variables, the variables were altered on an
individual basis. It should be noted that real-world movements in these variables are non-linear.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
22. Risk Management (continued)

22.4. Financial risk (continued)

22.4.3 Market risk (continued)

22.4.3(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

Impact on OCI Impact on equity
Changes in variables $000 $000

At 31 December 2017

+ 50 basis points (37,266) (37,266)
- 50 basis points 47,719 47,719
+ 100 basis points (78,168) (78,168)
- 100 basis points 91,872 91,872

At 31 December 2016

+ 50 basis points (42,314) (42,314)
- 50 basis points 41,652 41,652
+ 100 basis points (82,737) (82,737)
- 100 basis points 85,263 85,263

22.4.3(iii) Equity risk
Equity risk arises from the level or volatility of market prices for equities.

The company’s equity risk exposure relates to financial assets and financial liabilities whose values will
fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, principally investment securities.

The Investment Management Policy governs the management of equity risk by setting limits on equity
investments which are regularly monitored.

There is no significant concentration of equity risk.

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in market indices on financial
instruments with all other variables held constant, showing the impact on profit before tax due to changes
in fair value of financial assets (whose fair values are recorded in the profit and loss account). The
correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on equity risk, but
to demonstrate the impact due to changes in variables, the variables were altered on an individual basis.
It should be noted that real-world movements in these variables are non-linear.

The method used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables did not change from the
previous period.

2017 2016

Changein Impact on profit Impact on Impact on profit Impact on

variables before tax equity before tax equity

Changes in prices $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Shares & other variable - vield securities +10% 1683 1.402 1.349 1,124
Shares & other variable - yield securities -10% (1,683 (1,402) (1,349) (1,124)
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23. Other obligations including leases

Future minimum rentals payable under operating leases rechargeable from LSML to the Company are
as follows:

2017 2016

$000 $000

Not later than one year 7.062 7,078
Later than one year and not later than five years 23,110 22,572
Later than five years 46,281 47 118
76,453 76,768

Total operating lease expense for the year amounted to $6.381k (2016:$ 8,517k). This is included within
administrative expenses shown in note 4.

24. Other commitments
Collateral deposits

Debt securities and deposits with credit institutions amounting to $146,776k (2016: $96,440k) have been
pledged as security in connection with certain of the Company's overseas liabilities.

25. Off-balance sheet arrangements

The Company benefits from collateral pledged by counterparties, which is not held on the balance sheet.
The collateral is held in segregated funds, and acts as additional security in the event of failure of those
counterparties to meet their contractual obligations.

The Company has not been party to any other arrangements, which is not reflected in its statement of
financial position, where material risk and benefits arise for the Company.

26. Related Parties

As a qualifying entity, the Company has elected to take advantage of the exemption from the
requirements of FRS 102 Section 33 Related Party Transactions paragraph 1A and paragraph 7 to not
disclose related party transactions with key management personnel and related party transactions with
wholly owned subsidiaries of Liberty International Holdings Incorporated (DE).

As part of the Brexit strategy the Company entered into the following transactions with Liberty UK and
Europe Holdings. Refer to Note 8 for details.

There were no outstanding balances as at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil) other than the balances reported
in notes 10, 11, 18 and 19.

27. Guarantees

On 15 February 2002 the board of Liberty Mutual Insurance Company agreed to grant a guarantee
covering the Company's insurance obligations. This was ratified by the Massachusetts' Department of
Insurance on 10 May 2002. The original guarantee was updated and re-issued on 13 April 2006.

28. Comparative figures

Certain comparative figures have been restated to conform with the 2017 presentation. Inwards
reinsurance balances of $137.4m have been reclassified from Debtors arising out of direct insurance

operations — intermediaries to Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations. This had no impact on the
profit and loss for the year or net assets.
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29. Ultimate parent Company

The ultimate parent Company is Liberty Mutual Holding Company Inc. of Boston, 175 Berkeley Street,
Boston, Massachusetts 02117, U.S.A. a Company incorporated in the United States of America. The
smallest higher group of companies for which group accounts are drawn up and of which this Company
is @ member is Liberty International Holdings Incorporated, a Company incorporated and registered in
the U.S.A.

The immediate parent Company of Liberty Specialty Markets Holdco SL. The immediate parent was
transferred from Liberty UK and Europe Holdings in November 2017 as described in the Strategic report.

Copies of the group accounts of Liberty International Holdings Incorporated and of Liberty Mutual Holding

Company Inc. of Boston are available from the companies’ registered office, 175 Berkeley Street, Boston,
Massachusetts 02117, U.S.A.
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